CHAPTER FIVE

New Insights into the Metabolic and Molecular Mechanism of Plant Response to Anaerobiosis

Laura Arru^{*,†}, Silvia Fornaciari^{*}, Stefano Mancuso^{‡,§,1}

*Interdepartmental Centre Biogest-Siteia, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Reggio Emilia, Italy [†]Department of Life Sciences, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Reggio Emilia, Italy [‡]Department of Plant, Soil and Environmental Science, University of Florence, Florence, Italy [§]LINV International Laboratory of Plant Neurobiology, University of Florence, Florence, Italy ¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: stefano.mancuso@unifi.it

Contents

1.	Introduction	232
2.	Cellular Oxygen Status Perception	233
	2.1 Roots	233
	2.2 Multifactorial perspective of oxygen sensing and signaling	234
3.	Molecular Mechanisms in Anaerobic Response	239
	3.1 ERF VII transcription factors	240
	3.2 Nontranscriptional regulation in low oxygen sensing and response	243
	3.3 Heat stress and oxygen-deprivation stress responses: Converging strategies	247
4.	Metabolic Adaptations	248
	4.1 GABA accumulation: "GABA shunt"	248
	4.2 Alanine accumulation	251
	4.3 Nitrate, nitrite, and NO: Hemoglobin/nitric oxide cycle	251
	4.4 Lactate and ethanol: Anaerobic fermentation	253
5.	Concluding Remarks	254
Ret	References	

Abstract

Under anaerobic conditions, plants apply a wide spectrum of precise adaptive strategies responding to several critical challenges. The ability of efficiently sensing the oxygen presence demonstrates the existence of both direct and indirect ways of perception. The subsequent coordinate metabolic reassessment is currently under study. The complex molecular response implicates not only transcriptional and translational regulation of specific genes but also posttranscriptional and posttranslational regulatory mechanisms, each and all integrating the metabolic settings. Furthermore, the accumulation of typical metabolites during low oxygen stress condition is a key factor that suggests some critical topics in the regulation of metabolic pathways. Here, we summarize the main routes for adaptive behavior during oxygen depletion, from oxygen availability perception to recently discovered molecular mechanisms and metabolic adaptations.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Geologic Calendar is a scale in which the age of the Earth is assumed to be as long as 1 year. While *Homo sapiens* appears on the Earth in the last 4 min of this year, land plants cover the entire last month. This point of view may suggest the extent to which plants demonstrate an ability to recognize and face the wide variety of environmental conditions, even stressful and drastic, bypassing their main limit—being sessile—and colonizing the planet. Plant distinctive feature refers not only to the unavoidable necessity to face conditions without escape but also to the spread and unpredictability of seed dispersion, insomuch as second-generation plants can grow in environmental conditions that are completely different from those of their parent plants.

Both of these challenges led to the evolvement of a wide spectrum of adaptive strategies, insofar as a single plant may produce changes in metabolism in order to face an environmental state or a transient condition, inducing different metabolic responses depending on the degree of the stress conditions and involving the whole plant in a coordinated response. In particular, soil flooding—and thus anaerobiosis—is a stress condition that requires quick and precise sensing, well-coordinated signaling and an integrative response in order to bypass the stress without irreversibly impairing cell metabolism.

In responding to oxygen depletion at the molecular level, a main role has been observed for both transcriptional and translational regulations of specific genes, such as the hypoxia-related transcription factors (TFs)—in particular the family VII of the ERF (ethylene response factor) and heat shock transcription factors (HSFs), involved in oxygen sensing and stress response triggering (Licausi and Perata, 2009; Licausi et al., 2011; Pucciariello et al., 2012).

Furthermore, recent studies have highlighted the even higher complexity of this molecular response; posttranscriptional and posttranslational regulations also participate in the network of regulatory mechanisms (Mazzucotelli et al., 2008), integrating the modulation of metabolic settings. The metabolic and physiological reassessment induced by the lack of oxygen also depends on indirect sensing mechanisms involving different changes in cytosolic parameters and hormonal balances (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). From a metabolic point of view, production of lactate and ethanol has been studied since 1974 when Davies and colleagues suggested the mechanisms regulating lactic and ethanolic fermentation. More recently, studies of the accumulation of specific amino acids were found to belong to the adaptive response of the plant to the lack of oxygen. In particular, alanine and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) have been found to be the most biosynthesized amino acids during hypoxic conditions, with a role in maintaining the osmotic potential and in limiting the cytosolic acidification (Miyashita and Good, 2008). Succinate also accumulates, suggesting the last step of the noncircular TCA cycle active during oxygen depletion (Sweetlove et al., 2010), while the observed production of γ -hydroxybutyrate (GHB) during stress has been explained with the conversion of succinic semialdehyde derived from GABA-T by means of a specific reductase enzyme (Breitkreuz et al., 2003; Deleu et al., 2013; Renault et al., 2012).

Furthermore, metabolic adaptations also involve a mitochondrial role for nitrite, where it acts as an alternative electron acceptor in the electron transport chain, producing nitric oxide (Stoimenova et al., 2007) and contributing to the maintenance of mitochondrial activity and ATP synthesis during anoxic conditions (Igamberdiev et al., 2005; Stoimenova et al., 2007). Thus, plant strategies for adaptation to low oxygen conditions are defined by a complex coordination of molecular, metabolic, and physiological redefinitions, which allow the survival of plants even under strict low oxygen conditions.

2. CELLULAR OXYGEN STATUS PERCEPTION 2.1. Roots

Roots are very sophisticated organs; they ceaselessly maintain a highly complex interdependent relationship with biotic and abiotic components of soil. While root apparatus is strongly influenced by the environment, it also strongly influences the surrounding soil by means of exudates, water and oxygen uptake, and metabolic activities (Hinsinger et al., 2009). Furthermore, also among those processes operating inside roots, there is an interdependence that involves soil condition, soil condition sensing, and a subsequent redefinition of metabolic pathways, as seen, that is, for water uptake during anaerobic conditions (Tournaire-Roux et al., 2003). Actually, during flooding, plants act to redefine metabolic and molecular processes across the entire plant (Bailey-Serres and Voesenek, 2008; Christianson et al., 2010; Kreuzwieser et al., 2009). This broad rearrangement, which involves organs that are not directly suffering stress, suggests the presence of a systemic and incisive intraplant communication, acting for the entire plant adaptation. Plant adaptation begins with the perception of stress and with the root taking on the task of perceiving the availability of oxygen. Root anatomy is composed of different zones, which are basically defined as root cap, which covers the root apices (Barlow, 2003), a meristematic zone, a transition zone, and a zone of rapid cell elongation (Baluška et al., 1990, 1996, 2001; Kieffer et al., 2009; Verbelen et al., 2006).

Focusing on the transition zone, we find that the cells of this zone have been shown to be the most intense zone for endocytic vesicle recycling and for auxin flux (Baluška et al., 2010; Sukumar et al., 2009). These cells show evidence of an electrical activity synchronized with auxin transport peaks (Masi et al., 2009) and an intense and complex hormonal network (Baluška et al., 2010). In order to sustain all of these processes, the transition zone is characterized by a very high intake of ATP and oxygen (Mancuso et al., 2000)—much higher than in the other root regions (Mancuso and Marras, 2006; Mugnai et al., 2011, 2012). Consequently, oxygen deprivation greatly affects the transition zone, which is the region of the root most sensitive to a lack of oxygen (Mugnai et al., 2012) and thus the probable point of departure of intercellular communication.

It is worth mentioning that oxygen availability sensing and intercellular signaling are a deeply intricate field of research, with many unclear points and no completely exhaustive answers. However, the key role of the transition zone in sensing and signaling oxygen deprivation may have been confirmed in 2012 when Mugnai and colleagues studied the effects of hypoxia selectively imposed on the root apex. The cells of the transition zone react to the stress by emitting an increased amount of nitric oxide, which seem to play an important role in inducing the entire root to have an acclimation response.

2.2. Multifactorial perspective of oxygen sensing and signaling

In order to favor plant survival during oxygen deprivation, the availability of oxygen can be perceived by both direct and indirect sensing, leading to a cascade of events belonging to the acclimation response (Bailey-Serres and Chang, 2005; Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). Some of the indirect mechanisms might involve the perception of the ratio of ATP and ADP, of the amounts of carbohydrates and pyruvate, of altered cytosolic pH and cytosolic calcium, and of the burst in reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitrogen oxygen species (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). These indicators of oxygen availability also participate in the response of other stress conditions, both

biotic and abiotic (Pucciariello and Perata, 2012). Some of them are not plant specific, but are important parameters for most living organisms.

Cytosolic-free calcium concentration is one of the most widespread signals among all living organisms. Calcium spikes are involved in the perception of many different stimuli or stresses; these spikes stimulate responses involved in gene expression, cell physiology, or metabolic pathways (Tuteja, 2009). During hypoxic and anoxic stresses, an increase in Ca²⁺ concentration has been observed in both maize and Arabidopsis cells (Sedbrook et al., 1996; Subbaiah et al., 2000). It has been speculated that this increase may be required for *Adh1* gene expression (Subbaiah et al., 2000).

Cytosolic pH change during anaerobiosis is a well-known effect since the lactic fermentation pathway prevails in early phases of anaerobic metabolism, resulting, first of all, in a fall of the cytoplasmic pH (Davies, 1980; Perata and Alpi, 1993). Curiously, it can be supposed that changes in pH values generated in the stressed cells of anaerobic roots might have signal roles in themselves. For example, cytosolic acidification is associated with the induction of ethanolic fermentation (Davies, 1980; Perata and Alpi, 1993), with a positive stimulus in the nitrate reductase activity, leading to an increased emission of NO (Dordas et al., 2004), and with a reduction in the hydraulic conductivity of the roots by affecting the activity of aquaporins (Bramley and Tyerman, 2010; Ehlert et al., 2009; Tournaire-Roux et al., 2003).

This malfunction in the aquaporins—and the subsequent decrease of root hydraulic conductance—results in a fall in leaf hydration and thus in an induced stomata closure in order to reduce water loss (Andersen et al., 1984; Else et al., 2001; Jackson et al., 2003). This cascade of events following a change in pH values in root anoxic cells supports the suggestion that pH may have a key role in sensing oxygen deficiency and triggering responses among the whole plant. Moreover, the acidification might diffuse through root cells until reaching the xylem sap, and then move and act as a messenger in itself across the plant (Jia and Davies, 2007).

Also nitric oxide has emerged as a very significant signal molecule and is involved in many different stresses (Leterrier et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2007; Wang and Yang, 2005). NO has been shown to have various key roles during anaerobiosis. NO is an alternative product of the altered mitochondrial metabolism, since nitrite becomes an intermediate electron acceptor and is converted back to nitrate by low oxygen-induced plant hemoglobin, becoming a fundamental step in the anaerobic switch of plant mitochondria (Igamberdiev and Hill, 2009). NO is implied in the hormoneinduced response by means of synergic or counteractive interactions (Leterrier et al., 2012). NO has also been suggested as a trigger for gene expression and as an inhibitor of mitochondrial enzymes (Blokhina and Fagerstedt, 2010).

As seen before, the cells of the transition zone in the root are those with the highest intake of ATP and oxygen; thus, it is hypothesized that these cells are highly sensitive to oxygen deficiency. Interestingly, an enhanced emission of NO has also been observed in these cells—an emission which it has been speculated is involved in the metabolic switch of these cells during stress associated with a decreased demand of oxygen (Mugnai et al., 2012).

2.2.1 Reactive oxygen species

Even if it does not seem intuitive, lack of oxygen is a stress condition which induces oxidative stress. Increased levels of ROS have been observed in both tolerant and sensitive species. Pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan*), pea (*Pisum sativum*), and soybean (*Glycine max*) have shown markedly enhanced levels of ROS, in particular H_2O_2 , when subjected to a lack of oxygen (Ershova et al., 2011; Kumutha et al., 2009). H_2O_2 accumulation in response to oxygen deprivation has also been detected in *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings (Baxter-Burrell et al., 2002), in roots of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*), and in two different species of apple trees (*Malus hupenensis* and *Malus toringoide*) (Bai et al., 2010; Blokhina et al., 2003).

Santosa et al. (2006) evaluated the oxidative stress of submerged rice, detecting ethane production as a product of membrane peroxidation. They observed that ethane emission was enhanced during submergence, as levels of O_2 fall to 1%, highlighting the ROS production and the subsequent cell damage during the decline in the availability of oxygen. ROS production is predominantly attributed to the pathway that involves the activity of a RHO-like, small G protein (ROP) and its interaction with a NAPH oxidase (NOX) localized in the plasma membrane (Sagi and Fluhr, 2006; Sairam et al., 2008; Wong et al., 2007).

NOX generates ROS in both animal and plants, and NOX-dependent superoxide production has been suggested as a key factor for adaptation during plant hypoxia (Sairam et al., 2008). In fact, the interaction between ROP and NOX promotes a cascade of events that induces an enhanced calcium influx, an increase in the H_2O_2 levels, and a subsequent switch to anaerobic fermentation and other stress adaptive pathways (Baxter-Burrell et al., 2002; Demidchik and Maathuis, 2007; Pucciariello et al., 2012).

A mitochondrial role in ROS production has also been hypothesized. In 2012, Chang and colleagues studied ROS production in Arabidopsis seedlings when the electron transport chain was inhibited at the sites of complexes III and IV (Chang et al., 2012). Experiments provided evidence about the transient activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and the ubisemiquinone accumulation, with an associated increase in ROS production. Hydrogen peroxide, being an uncharged molecule, can easily diffuse through the mitochondrial membrane, reaching the cytosol and acting as signal of the stress condition (Han et al., 2003; Turrens, 2003). As suggested by these studies, there is evidence of a ROS role in the signaling mechanisms in plants as triggers for the stress response and as molecules involved in the cell-to-cell communication (Mittler et al., 2011). Observing the characteristics of ROS, they seem to be perfectly fitting as having a role as signal molecules. The quick production, the ability to induce specific responses, and the rapid degradation are key features for the effective signal molecule (Pauly et al., 2006).

During oxygen depletion, a set of genes related to the balance between ROS production and ROS scavenging is newly regulated, thus coordinating the ROS-dependent response (Pucciariello et al., 2012). Moreover, the lack of oxygen implies ROS-dependent TFs and heat-shock proteins (HSPs), strictly related to the presence of ROS. The involvement of all of these ROS and ROS-dependent factors during oxygen shortage also suggests a possible signaling role of ROS in themselves (Pucciariello et al., 2012). Indeed, ROS molecules have been demonstrated to have an importance in cell-to-cell signaling, following mechanisms which seem to be common between anoxic and heat stresses, since the oxidative burst belongs to both these stress conditions (Banti et al., 2010). In particular, H₂O₂ involvement has been reported for the activation of redox-sensitive TFs, such as heat shock transcription factors (HSFs) in different stress conditions involving an oxidative stress (Pucciariello et al., 2012). Hydrogen peroxide also has been shown to be involved in the low oxygen, stress-induced formation of lysigenous aerenchyma in Arabidopsis plants (Muhlenbock et al., 2007) and in the programmed cell death induced by abiotic stress (De Pinto et al., 2012). Moreover, Arabidopsis plantlets pretreated with H₂O₂ demonstrated enhanced tolerance to anoxia (Banti et al., 2010).

2.2.2 Hormonal involvement

Plant hormonal balances involve, during oxygen depletion, the rearrangement of ethylene, abscisic acid, and gibberellin (GA) levels (Yemelyanov and Shishova, 2012). Their coordinated effect is implied in the adaptive pathways of both tolerant and sensitive plants, mediating molecular and physiological responses (Bailey-Serres and Voesenek, 2008; Kende et al., 1998; Peeters et al., 2002).

Ethylene production seems to be the first hormonal regulation during low oxygen conditions, becoming the trigger for the escape strategy in tolerant species. Ethylene stimulates the growth rate of both the shoot and the leaf (Jackson, 2008), as well as the activity of specific, ethylene-dependent enzymes involved in cell loosening (Bragina et al., 2001, 2003). Ethylene plays an important role in the aerenchyma formation (Sairam et al., 2008), as demonstrated in hypoxic roots of maize, where it has been confirmed by means of exogenous application of ethylene antagonists, which were shown to exert an inhibitory effect on its development (Drew et al., 1981; Jackson et al., 1985; Konings, 1982). For most of the plants studied, ethylene production during flooding was shown to induce hyponastic leaf growth (Ridge, 1987; Voesenek and Blom, 1989). Moreover, ethylene production may have an inhibitory effect on physiological parameters during hypoxic stress, as seen in tomato plants where an increased ethylene/auxin ratio affected the formation of adventitious roots (Vidoz et al., 2010).

Ethylene also regulates the induction of hypoxia-related genes, even if only 10% of the so-called ERFs require ethylene to be regulated (Nakano et al., 2006). These ethylene-dependent ERFs seem to be fundamental for sensing oxygen, as well as for the beginning of an adaptive response (Voesenek and Sasidharan, 2013). The ethylene-inducible ERFs belonging to the family VII have been thoroughly studied in rice, since they can act as mediators for both quiescent and escape strategies. Particularly during the quiescent strategy, the group VII ERF Submergence 1A (Sub1A)-1 hinders underwater growth, inhibiting the induction of those genes codifying for proteins involved in starch breakdown and cell wall loosening (Fukao et al., 2006) but also favoring the activity of specific repressors of GA-induced growth processes (Fukao and Bailey-Serres, 2008).

In contrast, during the escape strategy, the Snorkel locus encodes for two ERF VII groups, Snorkel 1 (SK1) and Snorkel 2 (SK2), which promote fast stem elongation in order to reach the water level (Fukao and Xiong, 2013; Hattori et al., 2009).

Coordination among different hormones is clear in submerged organs of rice, where the induction of ethylene promotes a subsequent regulation of the balance between aminobutyric acid (ABA) and GAs, mediating cell elongation (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). Reduced levels of GAs during oxygen deprivation have also been observed in *Rumex palustris* and *Rumex acetosa*. Reduced GAs, with a simultaneous increase in ABA levels, coordinate the reduced elongation (Benschop et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2010). It has been suggested that during waterlogging, both GAs and cytokinins may have

a role in root-to-shoot signaling by promoting stomatal opening, in antagonism with the ABA effect (Kumar et al., 2004; Pospíšilová, 2003). It has also been observed that NO levels rise during oxygen deprivation while GA levels decrease, suggesting a role in stomatal closure (Christianson et al., 2010).

3. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS IN ANAEROBIC RESPONSE

During hypoxic and anoxic stress, plant adaptive strategies have been divided into two broad groups: low oxygen quiescence syndrome (LOQS) and low oxygen escape syndrome (LOES) (Colmer and Voesenek, 2009). However, some responses have been shown to be conserved in all flooding-adapted plants, independently from the strategy. Since oxygen availability becomes low during submergence, plants following the LOQS strategy reduce or repress stem elongation and keep metabolic pathways in a quiescent state in order to limit energy-consuming processes and save substrate supply for the desubmergence phase. In contrast, plants responding with an LOES strategy show the ability to tolerate longer term anoxic stresses, investing in the faster elongation of submerged stems, petioles, and leaves, and thus reaching the water surface to be back in contact with air (Colmer and Voesenek, 2009; Pucciariello and Perata, 2012). Curiously, it has been proved that there is not a sharp distinction between the two stratagems, since some tolerant species have the ability to "choose" the one or the other strategy depending on the seriousness of stress conditions, showing a very sophisticated stimuli response (e.g., see Oryza sativa spp. indica, Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). This basic differentiation in possible responses to oxygen deprivation is also shown in the numbers of genes selectively expressed during the stress, which present significant differences between flooding-sensitive plants and flooding-tolerant ones. During hypoxic stress, a flooding-tolerant plant, such as poplar, shows altered expression levels for more than 5000 genes. In contrast, the flooding-sensitive Arabidopsis plants show a change in the transcript abundance of about 150 genes involved in the stress response (Klok et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2005).

In particular, Arabidopsis and rice are the most thoroughly studied plants in their response to hypoxia and anoxia, and today, many microarray data sets provide a notable amount of information (Banti et al., 2010; Branco-Price et al., 2005; Jung et al., 2010; Lasanthi-Kudahettige et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2011; Licausi et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2005; Loreti et al., 2005; Mustroph et al., 2010; van Dongen et al., 2008). Furthermore, even in the same plant, upregulation or downregulation of specific genes seems to depend strongly on the degree of the stress condition (i.e., from the beginning of hypoxia to a strict anoxia), involving both common and different genes for each stage of oxygen deprivation, as seen for Arabidopsis (Pucciariello et al., 2012). It has also been noted that there are genes whose regulation occurs throughout the entire plant, as well as specific genes differently regulated depending on the organ of the plant (Pucciariello and Perata, 2012).

In spite of these variances, a common trait for sensitive and tolerant species, as well as for different stress levels, is that a high percentage of genes involved in the stress response is composed of TFs. TFs play the part of the last regulatory step in the signal cascade, starting from the perception of the environmental change and advancing toward the metabolic response. Several hypoxia-responsive TFs have been studied, that is, the MYB (myeloblastosis), the ATAF (Arabidopsis transcription activation factor), the PHD (plant homeodomain), and the ERF families (Bond et al., 2009; Christianson et al., 2009; Hoeren et al., 1998; Licausi et al., 2010). But in any case, no single TF seemed to be the only one regulating the stress response. This finding suggests the existence of a more complex transcriptional network with coordinated transcriptional regulators which contribute to the stress adaptation in the molecular response to a lack of oxygen (Kreuzwieser et al., 2009; Licausi et al., 2010).

3.1. ERF VII transcription factors

3.1.1 ERF VII as key players in anaerobic adaptation

Among the TFs studied, particular attention has been directed to the family VII of the ethylene response factor (ERF VII) involved in stress adaptation responding to increased ethylene production (Nakano et al., 2006). Both LOES and LOQS mechanisms involve genes belonging to this family (Pucciariello and Perata, 2012), even if there are consistent differences among species. For example, ERF VII members identified in monocots such as rice and maize are double or more in respect to the numbers of those found in the dicots studied (Licausi et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2008).

In mature rice plants using the quiescent strategy involved in the flooding response, the ERF Sub1A gene has been demonstrated to play important roles (Fukao et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2006). Rice SUB1A has a primary role related to the presence of ADH, improving the fermentative metabolism (Fukao et al., 2006). But SUB1A also induces the repression of those genes involved in sucrose degradation by means of sucrose synthase (Fukao et al.,

2006), and the inhibition of the GA-mediated underwater plant elongation, limiting cell expansion (Fukao and Bailey-Serres, 2008).

In particular, during the quiescent strategy, the submergence-induced allele Sub1A-1 activates two specific genes: the slender-rice 1 (SLR1) and the slender-rice-like 1 (SLRL1). These genes inhibit GA-induced plant elongation leading to the preservation of the energy reserve (Bailey-Serres and Voesenek, 2008; Pucciariello and Perata, 2012). In contrast, in rice plants utilizing the escape strategy, underwater plant elongation is induced by two different genes also belonging to the ERF family VII: SK1 and SK2, which have a role in promoting fast elongation, in order to reestablish gas exchange once the plant has reached the water surface (Hattori et al., 2009).

Moreover, Arabidopsis plants subjected to low oxygen conditions have shown an increased regulation of genes belonging to the ERF family VII, in particular five members: HRE1, HRE2, RAP2.2, RAP2.3, and RAP2.12 (Licausi et al., 2010).

The hypoxia-responsive ERF (HRE)1 and the HRE2 are both localized in the nucleus, where, as suggested by the literature, they may have the role of positively regulating gene transcription (Licausi et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2007). Both HRE1 and HRE2 are not directly induced by the increase in ethylene production, although their response to anaerobic stress quickly emerges (van Dongen et al., 2009). Experiments with transgenic plants confirmed the importance of these genes. Overexpressing HRE1 and HRE2 plants enhance their tolerance to anoxia, while the suppression of both HRE1 and HRE2 induces an increased sensitivity, lowering the expression of many hypoxic-related genes (Pucciariello and Perata, 2012). Thus, Arabidopsis plants lacking oxygen clearly show an increased expression of ERF VII genes and an increased expression of hypoxic genes, with a subsequent enhanced low oxygen tolerance (Hinz et al., 2010). Despite that, only plants overexpressing HRE1 show an intensified hypoxic induction of the anaerobic genes ADH, SUS1, and SUS4 and an upregulation of ADH under aerobic conditions (Licausi et al., 2010).

RAP2.2 is constitutively expressed at very high levels in roots and has a role in the induction of genes related to the sucrose metabolism and the fermentation pathways (Hinz et al., 2010). Its distribution across the plant reflects the dissemination of anaerobiosis-related genes such as ADH1, LDH1 (Dolferus et al., 2008), and AlaAT1 (Miyashita et al., 2007). Even if RAP2.2 induction under hypoxia seems not to be drastic (Hinz et al., 2010), transgenic plants overexpressing RAP2.2 showed an improved

tolerance to hypoxic stress, whereas the knockouts of the gene caused a decreased survival rate (Hinz et al., 2010).

However, overexpression of RAP2.2 did not affect the expression of ADH gene or any other anaerobic gene in air (Welsch et al., 2007). Also RAP2.12, whose role was suggested to be in the upregulation of the ADH1 expression and ADH activity (Papdi et al., 2008), did not show an increased gene expression in Arabidopsis seedlings subjected to hypoxia (Licausi et al., 2010). RAP2.3 is known to confer resistance to H_2O_2 and to positively regulate many defense genes (Ogawa et al., 2005; Papdi et al., 2008). Like RAP2.2 and RAP2.12, the expression of RAP2.3 was also unaffected by hypoxia (Licausi et al., 2010).

3.1.2 ERF VII as key players in oxygen sensing

In the past, many different hypothetical oxygen-sensing mechanisms were studied. In 2007, there emerged a possible role for prolyl hydroxylase enzymes, whose transcription seemed to increase during the oxygen deficit in *A. thaliana* and in rice (Lasanthi-Kudahettige et al., 2007; Vlad et al., 2007). In mammals, prolyl hydroxylase is an enzyme that works consuming O_2 , implicated in the degradation of a TF subunit involved in oxygen-deficiency acclimation (hypoxia-inducible factor 1α —HIF1 α). The enzyme activity is inhibited in oxygen-deficiency conditions and thus TFs related to the stress are not prevented anymore. Therefore, in mammals, prolyl hydroxylase perceives the weakening of O_2 and behaves as a direct sensor of hypoxia (Guzy and Schumacker, 2006).

In spite of these theories, no HIF1 α has been found in plants (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). More recently, new, promising studies have shown a molecular response to hypoxia that involves the subgroup VII of the ERF and their posttranslational regulation (Licausi et al., 2011, 2013). An important role for oxygen availability sensing and hypoxia response had already been assigned to the hypoxia-related ERFs, since many different studies showed a strong relationship among oxygen conditions, induction of ERFVII genes, and subsequent reassessment of metabolic routes (Hinz et al., 2010; Licausi et al., 2010, 2011; Papdi et al., 2008).

Subsequently, a cascade of findings supported the hypothesis that ERF TFs belonging to the group VII subfamily are also hypoxia sensors in plants, suggesting that the oxygen perception involves their posttranslational regulation by the ubiquitin-dependent N-end rule pathway (NREP) for protein degradation (Licausi et al., 2010, 2011). In particular, RAP2.12, a member of the ERF VII, has been demonstrated to play a fundamental role in the

trigger of the anaerobic response (Licausi et al., 2011). In 2008, Papdi and colleagues suggested that RAP2.12 could bind the ADH1 promoter. A posttranscriptional or posttranslational regulation of RAP2.12 emerged when mutants overexpressing RAP2.12 revealed an increase in the expression of those hypoxia-responsive genes only in those plants suffering hypoxic conditions, suggesting that normoxic conditions inhibit the action of RAP2.12 (Licausi et al., 2011; Sasidharan and Mustroph, 2011). A conserved amino-terminal sequence, which includes the Met-Cys initiating motif (MCGGAI/L), is shared by the hypoxia-responsive factors HRE1, HRE2, RAP2.2, and RAP2.12 (Licausi et al., 2011, 2013). This conserved domain is a peculiar motif, a perfect target for the N-end rule degradation mechanism (Gibbs et al., 2011; Licausi et al., 2011), which is an oxygen-dependent, posttranslational pathway, able to lead the protein degradation under aerobic conditions. Thus, during hypoxic conditions, the NERP is inhibited, and RAP2.12 is not degraded and moves to the nucleus where it accumulates, inducing the expression of those genes involved into hypoxia acclimation (Fig. 5.1; Licausi, 2011; Licausi et al., 2011).

Confirming this hypothesis, it has been observed that during normoxic conditions RAP2.12 can be recruited by the membrane ACBPs (Aacyl-CoA binding proteins) and, being temporarily sequestered and protected from degradation, then can undergo degradation by means of the NERP. In contrast, during hypoxia, RAP2.12 dissociates from the membrane to move into the nucleus (Licausi et al., 2013).

3.2. Nontranscriptional regulation in low oxygen sensing and response

3.2.1 Role of polyribosomes: Example of posttranscriptional regulation It is worthwhile to highlight the role of the differential mRNA translation, in particular, for those mRNAs associated with large polyribosomes (Branco-Price et al., 2005). It has been suggested an optimization of the mRNAs selective translation during stress, in order to grant an efficient translation of the hypoxia-induced mRNAs (Branco-Price et al., 2008). Interestingly, the posttranscriptional regulation also grants an increase in the translation of those mRNAs which encode enzymes that participate in the anaerobic production of ATP (Branco-Price et al., 2008), even if there is no alteration in the abundance of mRNA transcript. Moreover, during the stress, some mRNAs do not undergo translation, since they can be stabilized or degraded once sequestered into cytosolic messenger ribonucleoprotein complexes (mRNPs) (Branco-Price et al., 2008; Hoyle et al., 2007;

Author's personal copy



Figure 5.1 The N-end rule pathway during normoxic and hypoxic conditions. During normoxic conditions, the RAP2.12 transcription factor bound to ACBPs (acyl-CoA binding protein 1 and 2) is a target for proteasomal degradation following the N-end rule pathway (NERP). N-terminal Met cleavage catalyzed by MAP leaves the cysteine residue exposed to oxidation. Oxidized cysteine becomes then the substrate for the addition of an arginine and the subsequent degradation of the polypeptide. During oxygen deficiency, NERP is inhibited and the protein can move to the nucleus, where it triggers hypoxia-related signaling cascade enhancing plant survival. ACBPs, acyl-CoA binding proteins 1 and 2; ATE, arginyl tRNA transferase; MAP, methionine-amino peptidase; NERP, N-end rule pathway.

Parker and Sheth, 2007). This mRNP-mRNA complex allows the preservation of those mRNAs that under stress conditions are not translated, delaying their degradation (Arru and Fornaciari, 2010).

To simplify, during low oxygen conditions, a loss of correspondence between gene transcription and enzyme synthesis can be observed. Some mRNAs are sequestered by mRNPs so as not to be translated, but also not degraded. In contrast, those mRNAs useful to overcome the stress may have an unchanged expression level associated with enhanced activity of the related enzyme. Where the abundance of mRNA is unchanged, the recruitment by polyribosomes can involve a significant advantage.

The population of mRNA involved in this posttranscriptional regulation represents a considerable number of genes which are important for stress-induced metabolism (Branco-Price et al., 2005). In particular, concerning the posttranscriptional regulation of TFs, it has been reported that HRE1 and HRE2 mRNAs under hypoxia are associated with polyribosomes (Branco-Price et al., 2005, 2008), highlighting once more how transcription and translation coordinate at multiple levels. Concerning the discrepancy between gene expression variance and protein activity of the TFs RAP2.2 and RAP2.12, the issue may have a different explanation, as elucidated recently by Licausi et al. (2013).

3.2.2 N-end rule pathway: Example of posttranslational regulation

The NERP is a proteolytic mechanism which depends on the interaction of the proteasome with its target, called N-degron, which is an N-terminal residue followed by a specific sequence of amino acids (Tasaki et al., 2012). This pathway belongs to the ubiquitin–proteasome system, which determines protein stability in eukaryotes participating in many different cellular and developmental processes (Graciet and Wellmer, 2010). In particular, for plants, the NERP is involved in leaf senescence and seed germination as well as in shoot and leaf development (Graciet and Wellmer, 2010; Holman et al., 2009; Yoshida et al., 2002). In plants, the homeostatic response to hypoxia depends on the halt of the NERP related to specific ERF VII TFs. In normoxic conditions, the same proteins undergo proteolysis by means of the NERP through a mechanism which leads to a proteasome target beginning with the modification of the ERF VII tertiary destabilizing residue.

The definition of this residue depends on the classification of the N-terminal amino acids, which includes two main categories, depending on the stability conferred to the protein: stabilizing N-terminal residues and destabilizing N-terminal residues.

The stabilizing N-terminal residues assure the safety of the protein against the NERP, stunting the protein alteration and subsequent degradation. In contrast, destabilizing N-terminal residues are good targets for ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation (Varshavsky, 1997). Moreover, destabilizing residues can be further divided into primary, secondary, and tertiary destabilizing amino acids, depending on the protein modification progress status (Licausi et al., 2013; Varshavsky, 1997).

Primary, secondary, and tertiary destabilizing amino-terminal residues of amino acidic sequences may be modified through different ways in order to allow protein degradation (Tasaki et al., 2012). Tertiary destabilizing

residues are those which require two steps of modification in order to become N-degrons, passing through the intermediate secondary status. The enzymatically catalyzed covalent modifications of tertiary destabilizing amino acids, such as deamidation or oxidation, alter the N-terminal residue leading to the following step: the secondary destabilizing residues. Thus, the addition of an Arg residue by means of arginyl tRNA transferases (ATEs), allows the formation of the primary destabilizing residue, which is the N-terminal proteasome target, therefore the N-degron (Fig. 5.2) (Licausi et al., 2013).

Depending on the oxygen availability status, some ERF VII TFs, for instance RAP2.12, are targets for proteasomal degradation following the NERP until oxygen is available. As shown in Fig. 5.1, the conserved amino-terminal sequence, which includes the MCGGAI/L, is the residue involved in the enzymatically catalyzed reactions. First, methionine-amino peptidase (MAP) mediates the Met cleavage (Liao et al., 2004), leaving an exposed cysteine residue, subjected to oxidation due to oxygen and nitric oxide. Consequently, oxidized cysteine becomes the substrate for the addition of an arginine and the subsequent degradation of the polypeptide (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012; Licausi et al., 2013). In contrast, during oxygen deficiency, NERP is inhibited and the protein moves to the nucleus, where it induces expressions of core hypoxia-related genes such as ADH1, PDC1, and SUS4, thus enhancing plant survival (Gibbs et al., 2011).



Figure 5.2 Schematic representation of oxidative and enzymatic reactions of tertiary, secondary, and primary destabilizing residues in the N-end rule pathway. Tertiary destabilizing residue can be degraded by means of deamidation or oxidation, forming an altered N-terminal residue. This secondary destabilizing residue is subjected to the addition of an Arg residue by means of arginyl tRNA transferases (ATEs). The subsequent primary destabilizing residue is then the N-terminal proteasome target.

3.3. Heat stress and oxygen-deprivation stress responses: Converging strategies

The main difference between hypoxia and anoxia response might be the greater or lesser involvement of HSFs and HSPs in the stress response. When the lack of oxygen reaches values ascribable to the anoxic condition, an overlap has been observed between heat stress-induced response and anoxia-induced response (Banti et al., 2010; Pucciariello et al., 2012). This convergence seems to be imputable to the higher amount of ROS, in particular H_2O_2 , during each of these stresses (Banti et al., 2010). The increase in HSPs transcripts during anaerobic stress is widely conserved among different plant species (Mustroph et al., 2010; Vandenbroucke et al., 2008). Members of the HSFs are believed to sense indirectly the oxygen status, acting as H_2O_2 molecular sensors (Miller and Mittler, 2006) and modulating a complex response which confers improved tolerance to anoxia (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). Anoxic stress imposed on Arabidopsis seedling induces the activation of HSPs-related genes (Banti et al., 2010, 2013), whose preinduction by means of heating has been demonstrated to confer a better tolerance to a later-imposed anoxia (Banti et al., 2010).

Transgenic plants of Arabidopsis overexpressing the TF HsfA2 showed an increased expression of small HSPs and antioxidant-related genes and were demonstrated to better tolerate anoxia (Hinz et al., 2010; Nishizawa et al., 2006; Ogawa et al., 2007; Schramm et al., 2006). Curiously, this TF does not seem to be related to the switch to the anaerobic metabolism (Banti et al., 2010). Also at the sensing level, there is no correlation between the anoxic-induced, heat-shock, overlapping response and the hypoxicinduced, posttranslational, regulation response (Licausi et al., 2011; Sweetlove et al., 2010).

This lack of correlation may suggest that there are at least two main ways to follow to overcome oxygen-deficiency stress. A first pathway begins with a sensing of the oxygen status by means of posttranslational regulation of specific ERFs and involves the modulation of several genes among which are those related to anaerobic metabolism. A second pathway depends on a ROS-dependent sensing mechanism and involves HSFs and HSPs, increasing anoxia tolerance through other defense strategies. For example, in Arabidopsis plants, the expression level of ascorbate peroxidases gene depends on the activity of the HSFs (Panchuk et al., 2002), suggesting that these TFs are involved in the oxidative stress regulation by means of antioxidant activity modulation.

4. METABOLIC ADAPTATIONS

Anoxic stress induces rapid and severe metabolic and molecular adaptations in order to confront the fall in ATP production, due to the lack of oxygen as the final acceptor of electrons in oxidative phosphorylation, the fall in cytosolic pH, and the imbalance in osmotic potential. There is evidence about changes in enzyme composition in the cytosol and in mitochondria (Couee et al., 1992; Igamberdiev and Hill, 2009; Igamberdiev et al., 2004; Miyashita and Good, 2008), mainly related to the fermentation pathways, to the GABA shunt, to the switch of the TCA cycle to a noncircular TCA flux, and to the hemoglobin/nitrate cycle.

In order to elucidate these substantial metabolic changes, it would be strategic to retrace pathways, cycles, and fluxes beginning from the hypoxically induced metabolites accumulation and turnover, and then defining the events in plant cells during anaerobiosis. During root anaerobiosis, several metabolites accumulate—especially GABA and alanine (Miyashita and Good, 2008; Reggiani et al., 2000) but also GHB (Nakamura et al., 2012) and succinate (Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). Like the well-known lactate and ethanol synthesized during fermentation, their production and accumulation in plant tissues are a challenge for survival during the depletion of oxygen availability in the soil.

4.1. GABA accumulation: "GABA shunt"

GABA metabolism during anoxia mainly involves a short pathway of three enzymes moving from glutamate and generating succinate, bypassing steps of the tricarboxylic cycle, and then being called "GABA shunt" (Bouché and Fromm, 2004). The steps of this metabolic pathway begin with the cytosolic enzyme glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) which converts glutamate into GABA, then the mitochondrial enzyme GABA transaminase (GABA-T) converts GABA into succinyl semialdehyde, and finally the enzyme succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase leads to the biosynthesis of succinate (Bouché and Fromm, 2004). Interestingly, Miyashita and Good, in 2008, demonstrated that an inhibition of the GAD and GABA-T enzymes (and thus a defect in the GABA shunt) affected also the accumulation of alanine in Arabidopsis roots. In Fig. 5.3, the possible ways for alanine production, both independent and dependent from the GABA-shunt pathway, are shown.

In their 2009 review, Igamberdiev and Hill noted that alanine begins to accumulate earlier than GABA. The previous year, Miyashita and Good

Author's personal copy



Figure 5.3 legend in next page

demonstrated that in Arabidopsis roots, the inhibition of GAD and GABA-T was impaired (beyond the accumulation of GABA throughout the entire time of the experiment). Their study also saw the impairment of the accumulation of alanine in the second phase of the hypoxic experiment (beyond 4 h of hypoxia), while the initial rapid accumulation of alanine was not influenced by the GABA-shunt pathway. During oxygen-deficiency stress, a significant amount of succinic semialdehyde derived from the GABA-T activity is converted to GHB by means of the enzyme succinic semialdehyde reductase (SSR) (Breitkreuz et al., 2003; Deleu et al., 2013), which utilizes NADH contributing to redox regulation and providing NAD⁺, necessary for the glycolysis sustenance.

This raises the question: Which role might have GABA in the survival strategy of an anoxic cell? It is known that GABA has an important role contrasting the decrease in cytosolic pH and osmotic potential, contributing to the regulation of C:N balance, and hypothetically protecting cells from the oxidative stress (Banti et al., 2013; Bouché and Fromm, 2004; Bouché et al., 2003; Igamberdiev and Hill, 2009). In particular, it has been demonstrated (Shelp et al., 1999; Snedden et al., 1995, 1996) that GABA accumulates at low pH, GAD consumes a proton, and its activity is induced by cytosolic acidification. Moreover, accumulation of GABA is an adaptive strategy to prevent carbon loss and maintain osmotic potential, which falls as a consequence of the faster anaerobic carbohydrate consumption (Miyashita and Good, 2008; Reggiani et al., 2000).

Figure 5.3—Cont'd Metabolic reassessment during anaerobic stress. The alternative pathway responds to the energy crisis increasing ATP production and regenerating oxidizing potential. The scheme reports the main metabolic routes: enhanced sucrose degradation by means of sucrose synthase (SUS), sustained glycolysis by means of NAD⁺ regeneration, fermentation, succinate accumulation, alanine and 2-oxoglutarate (2-OG) shunt and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) shunt, γ -hydroxybutyrate (GHB) accumulation, and enhanced GS-GOGAT cycle activity. Continuous lines indicate the followed paths during the stress; dashed lines indicate proposed active paths during the stress. Metabolites that accumulate during the stress (alanine, succinate, GABA, GHB) are written inside a dark grey squared box; newly synthesized ATP, newly regenerated NAD⁺ and NAD(P)⁺ are written insides elliptical-shaped boxes. 2-OG, 2-oxoglutarate; ADH, alcohol dehydrogenase; AlaAT, alanine aminotransferase; COX, cyclooxygenase; Hb, hemoglobin; GABA, γ -aminobutyric acid; GABA-T, GABA transaminase; GAD, glutamic acid decarboxylase; GDH, glutamate dehydrogenase; GHB, γ -hydroxybutyrate; GS-GOGAT, glutamate synthase cycle; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; NiR, nitrite reductase; NR, nitrate reductase; OGDH, 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase; PDC, pyruvate decarboxylase; SCS, succinyl CoA ligase; SSR, succinic semialdehyde reductase; SUS, sucrose synthase.

As shown in Fig. 5.3, the GABA shunt might involve, indirectly, other metabolic pathways such as the GS/GOGAT (Bouché and Fromm, 2004; Reggiani et al., 2000).

In 2000, Reggiani and colleagues demonstrated that the use of inhibitors of the GS and GOGAT reactions significantly reduced the accumulation of alanine and GABA, proving that the GS/GOGAT cycle is necessary to assimilate nitrogen and produce those glutamate molecules that are the first step in the GABA-shunt reactions (Bouché and Fromm, 2004; Reggiani et al., 2000).

4.2. Alanine accumulation

As shown in Fig. 5.3, under anaerobic conditions, alanine production follows two possible different ways. Pyruvate can be converted to alanine by the transfer of an amino group derived from glutamate, which generates 2-oxoglutarate (2-OG) as a coproduct (Banti et al., 2013; Branco-Price et al., 2008). This reaction involves the Ala aminotransferase enzyme (AlaAT) since this enzyme is quickly induced under hypoxic conditions (Miyashita and Good, 2008; Muench and Good, 1994). However, in 2007 Miyashita et al. demonstrated that in anaerobic roots of Arabidopsis, AlaAT activity was not required for the alanine accumulation. In 2008, Miyashita and Good investigated the role of the GABA shunt in alanine accumulation, finding a relationship between the GABA-T activity and the alanine accumulation in hypoxic roots of Arabidopsis, in particular after the first 4 h from the start of the stress.

Alanine accumulation is known to be not toxic for the cells (Miyashita et al., 2007; Ricoult et al., 2005), to have a role in storing carbon and nitrogen, preventing their loss (Ricoult et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2002), and maintaining the osmotic potential (Miyashita and Good, 2008; Reggiani et al., 2000). Moreover, alanine production involves the generation of 2-OG (by means of the AlaAT activity) which can enter the partial (noncircular) TCA flux and proceed through the subsequent steps leading to ATP production by the substrate level phosphorylation. This metabolic adaptation may account for both alanine and succinate accumulation under hypoxia and anoxia.

4.3. Nitrate, nitrite, and NO: Hemoglobin/nitric oxide cycle

In anoxic root cells, nonsymbiotic plant hemoglobins (Hbs) have been demonstrated to modulate the nitric oxide (NO) produced and the amount of cytosolic nitrate, to be involved in a metabolic process regenerating NAD^+ , and to sustain ATP synthesis due to the reduction of nitrite to NO in mitochondria (Igamberdiev and Hill, 2009; Igamberdiev et al., 2005; Stoimenova et al., 2007).

In addition to the oxygen limitation, the enhanced NO production is also responsible for the inhibition of cytochrome oxidase at the oxygen-binding site (Cooper, 2002; Dordas et al., 2003). Briefly, due to the quantities of NO and oxygen, cytochrome *c* oxidase (COX) is not operative in donating electrons to oxygen, and nitrite may act as an alternative electron acceptor at sites of complexes III and IV of the electron transport chain (Stoimenova et al., 2007). Both of these complexes are proton pumping, and NO formation by means of nitrite reduction seems to be responsible for the proton translocation. Since ATP production is a consequence of this proton pumping, as shown in Fig. 5.4, plant mitochondria are



Figure 5.4 Anaerobic switch in plant mitochondria. Nitrite (NO_2^-) is the alternative electron acceptor at sites of complexes III and IV. The produced nitric oxide (NO) is converted to nitrate (NO_3^-) in the cytosol by means of hypoxically induced hemoglobin (Hb). Nitrate is then reduced to nitrite by nitrate reductase (NR) and then enters back the mitochondria. The cycle demonstrated to support the oxidation of NADH and NADPH and preserve the ATP production. C, cytochrome *c*; Hb, hemoglobin; NR, nitrate reductase; Q, ubiquinone.

able to synthesize anaerobic ATP by means of NADH and NADPH as electron donors and with nitrite as a terminal electron acceptor. In this mechanism, cytosolic Hbs play a fundamental role reacting with NO formed in the mitochondria and diffused to the cytosol-generating nitrate (Igamberdiev and Hill, 2009). In the cytoplasm, nitrate can then be reduced to nitrite by nitrate reductase (NR) and nitrite can enter mitochondria, allowing the cycle to repeat.

Effectively, in hypoxic-tolerant rice subjected to oxygen-deficiency stress, NR has been shown to be upregulated at both transcriptional and enzymatic levels, while nitrite reductase (NiR) shows a very low induction (Mattana et al., 1994). Moreover, the mitochondrial COX-dependent reducing systems seem to be highly active, suggesting that most of the nitrite enters mitochondria (Planchet and Kaiser, 2006). Only a very small percentage of the nitrite generated by means of the Hb/NO cycle seems to be reduced to NH_4^+ , even though ammonia is known to be fundamental for enhanced amino acid production under anaerobic conditions (Igamberdiev and Hill, 2009).

In particular, in roots of highly tolerant species, it has been shown how the glutamine synthetase (GS)/glutamate synthase (GOGAT) cycle operates in order to reassimilate and incorporate ammonia into those metabolites typical of anaerobic conditions (Reggiani et al., 2000), and GS, Fd-GOGAT, and Fd-NADP⁺ were demonstrated to be newly synthesized during anoxic stress (Mattana et al., 1994, 1996, 1997).

4.4. Lactate and ethanol: Anaerobic fermentation

Under anaerobic conditions, since the oxidative phosphorylation pathway is inhibited, alternative pathways are necessary to regenerate NAD⁺ in order to sustain glycolysis. Fermentation is one of the first metabolic adaptations which has been studied extensively, demonstrating that two fermentative pathways, ethanolic and lactic fermentations, can regenerate NAD⁺ from NADH.

It has been suggested that cytosolic pH is the trigger which regulates the ratio between ethanolic fermentation and lactic fermentation: a decrease in cytosolic pH increases ethanolic fermentation and decreases lactic fermentation (Davies et al., 1974; Menegus et al., 1991). Also Perata and Alpi, in 1993, sustained the hypothesis that lactate biosynthesis prevails in the early phases of anaerobic metabolism, causing a cytoplasmic acidification which stimulates the activity of pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) and alcohol

dehydrogenase (ADH) with the subsequent ethanol formation. It has also been specified that there is not—as is true for most of the adaptive metabolic changes—a common rule for all the plants; some species do not show lactic acid production before ethanol production and ethanolic fermentation are the only fermentation pathway (Andreev and Vartapetian, 1992).

More recently, in 2008, Dolferus and colleagues reported that Arabidopsis plants that overexpress lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) demonstrated increased root tolerance to anaerobiosis (Dolferus et al., 2008). Interestingly, these mutants showed a higher activity of PDC, confirming that in Arabidopsis roots, the ethanolic fermentation pathway also depends on lactate production (Dolferus et al., 2008). In Arabidopsis plants, four genes encoding PDC have been found, and Kürsteiner and colleagues, in 2003, demonstrated that PDC1 and PDC2 mRNA levels are induced during oxygen deprivation (Kürsteiner et al., 2003), while the quantity of PDC3 and PDC4 genes is not influenced significantly when the plant is under hypoxic stress (Mithran et al., 2014). Also in 2014, Mithran and colleagues reported that these different isoforms are organ-specific—PDC1 is root specific, while PDC2 seems to play its role in leaves.

Furthermore, it has been reported that an overexpression of PDC1 and PDC2 results in an enhanced tolerance to oxygen deficiency (Ismond et al., 2003), while the *pdc1*-null mutants showed to worsen survival under the stress (Kürsteiner et al., 2003).

Concerning ADH, studies on both tolerant and intolerant species demonstrated that null or reduced ADH activity induces a higher sensitivity to the anaerobic condition. ADH knockout plants, Arabidopsis adh1-null mutants, rice with reduced ADH activity, and maize adh1 mutants were in all of these cases more susceptible to anoxia (Ellis et al., 1999; Ismond et al., 2003; Jacobs et al., 1988; Johnson et al., 1994; Matsumura et al., 1995, 1998).

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Recent advances in plant strategies to survive anaerobic conditions gain knowledge about specific plant adaptive responses, increasing the understandig of how sensing, signaling, and thus response can quickly and successfully coordinate. The integrate regulation of molecular, metabolic, and physiological responses allows the plant survival even under strict low oxygen conditions.

Observation and deep analysis have highlighted different levels of the survival strategy, such as transcriptional and translational (i.e., TFs, such as ERF VII and HSFs), posttranscriptional (i.e., polyribosomes), and posttranslational (i.e., NERP) regulation of specific genes involved in oxygen sensing and stress response triggering; accumulation of specific amino acids, such as alanine and g-aminobutyric acid (GABA), succinate, and gammahydroxybutyrate (GHB), belonging to a complex reassessment of metabolic pathways with a role in the maintenance of the osmotic potential and limiting cytosolic acidification; and a temporary role for nitrite, where it acts as an alternative mitochondrial electron acceptor in the electron transport chain for the maintenance of the mitochondrial activity and ATP synthesis during anoxic conditions.

All of these new topics become pieces of a complex puzzle, charting new courses to deeply explore and understand plant survival mechanisms under anaerobic stress.

REFERENCES

- Andersen, P.C., Lombard, P.B., Westwood, M.N., 1984. Effect of root anaerobiosis on the water relations of several Pyrus species. Physiol. Plant. 62, 245–252.
- Andreev, V.Y., Vartapetian, B.B., 1992. Induction of alcoholic and lactic fermentation in the early stages of anaerobic incubation of higher plants. Phytochemistry 31, 1859–1861.
- Arru, L., Fornaciari, S., 2010. Root oxygen deprivation and leaf biochemistry in trees. In: Mancuso, S., Shabala, S. (Eds.), Waterlogging Signaling and Tolerance in Plants. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 181–195.
- Bai, T., Li, C., Ma, F., Feng, F., Shu, H., 2010. Responses of growth and antioxidant system to root-zone hypoxia stress in two Malus species. Plant Soil 327 (1–2), 95–105.
- Bailey-Serres, J., Chang, R., 2005. Sensing and signalling in response to oxygen deprivation in plants and other organisms. Ann. Bot. Lond. 96 (4), 507–518.
- Bailey-Serres, J., Voesenek, L.A.C.J., 2008. Flooding stress, acclimations and genetic diversity. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 313–339.
- Bailey-Serres, J., Fukao, T., Gibbs, D.J., Holdsworth, M.J., Lee, S.C., Licausi, F., Perata, P., Voesenek, L.A.C.J., van Dongen, J.T., 2012. Making sense of low oxygen sensing. Trends Plant Sci. 17 (3), 129–138.
- Baluška, F., Kubica, S., Hauskrecht, M., 1990. Postmitotic 'isodiametric' cell growth in the maize root apex. Planta 181, 269–274.
- Baluška, F., Volkmann, D., Barlow, P.W., 1996. Specialized zones of development in roots, view from the cellular level. Plant Physiol. 112, 3–4.
- Baluška, F., Volkmann, D., Barlow, P.W., 2001. A polarity crossroad in the transition growth zone of maize root apices, cytoskeletal and developmental implications. J. Plant Growth Regul. 20, 170–181.
- Baluška, F., Mancuso, S., Volkmann, D., Barlow, P.W., 2010. Root apex transition zone, a signaling–response nexus in the root. Trends Plant Sci. 15, 402–408.
- Banti, V., Mafessoni, F., Loreti, E., Alpi, A., Perata, P., 2010. The heat-inducible transcription factor *HsfA2* enhances anoxia tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol. 152, 1471–1483.
- Banti, V., Giuntoli, B., Gonzali, S., Loreti, E., Magneschi, L., Novi, G., Paparelli, E., Parlanti, S., Pucciariello, C., Santaniello, A., Perata, P., 2013. Low oxygen response mechanisms in green organisms. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14 (3), 4734–4761.

- Barlow, P.W., 2003. The root cap, cell dynamics, cell differentiation and cap function. J. Plant Growth Regul. 21, 261–286.
- Baxter-Burrell, A., Yang, Z., Springer, P.S., Bailey-Serres, J., 2002. RopGAP4-dependent Rop GTPase rheostat control of Arabidopsis oxygen deprivation tolerance. Science 296, 2026–2028.
- Benschop, J.J., Jackson, M.B., Gühl, K., Vreeburg, R.A.M., Croker, S.J., Peeters, A.J.M., Voesenek, L.A.C.J., 2005. Contrasting interactions between ethylene and abscisic acid in Rumex species differing in submergence tolerance. Plant J. 44, 756–768.
- Blokhina, O., Fagerstedt, K.V., 2010. Reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide in plant mitochondria, origin and redundant regulatory systems. Physiol. Plant. 138 (4), 447–462.
- Blokhina, O., Virolainen, E., Fagerstedt, K.V., 2003. Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress, a review. Ann. Bot. Lond. 91, 179–194.
- Bond, D.M., Wilson, I.W., Dennis, E.S., Pogson, B.J., Finnegan, E.J., 2009. Vernalization insensitive 3 (VIN3) is required for the response of *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings exposed to low oxygen conditions. Plant J. 59, 576–587.
- Bouché, N., Fromm, H., 2004. GABA in plants, just a metabolite? Trends Plant Sci. 9 (3), 110–115.
- Bouché, N., Fait, A., Bouchez, D., Møller, S.G., Fromm, H., 2003. Mitochondrial succinicsemialdehyde dehydrogenase of the γ-aminobutyrate shunt is required to restrict levels of reactive oxygen intermediates in plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (11), 6843–6848.
- Bragina, T.V., Martinovich, L.I., Rodionova, N.A., Bezborodov, A.M., Grineva, G.M., 2001. Ethylene-induced activation of xylanase in adventitious roots of maize as a response to the stress effect of root submersion. Appl. Biochem. Microbiol. 37 (6), 618–621.
- Bragina, T.V., Rodionova, N.A., Grinieva, G.M., 2003. Ethylene production and activation of hydrolytic enzymes during acclimation of maize seedlings to partial flooding. Russ. J. Plant Physiol. 50 (6), 794–798.
- Bramley, H., Tyerman, S., 2010. Root water transport under waterlogged conditions and the roles of aquaporins. In: Mancuso, S., Shabala, S. (Eds.), Waterlogging Signaling and Tolerance in Plants. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 151–180.
- Branco-Price, C., Kawaguchi, R., Ferreira, R.B., Bailey-Serres, J., 2005. Genomewide analysis of transcript abundance and translation in Arabidopsis seedlings subjected to oxygen deprivation. Ann. Bot. Lond. 96, 647–660.
- Branco-Price, C., Kaiser, K.A., Jang, C.J.H., Larive, C.K., Bailey-Serres, J., 2008. Selective mRNA translation coordinates energetic and metabolic adjustments to cellular oxygen deprivation and reoxygenation in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J. 56, 743–755.
- Breitkreuz, K.E., Allan, W.L., Van Cauwenberghe, O.R., Jakobs, C., Talibi, D., André, B., Shelp, B.J., 2003. A novel γ-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase identification and expression of an Arabidopsis cDNA and potential role under oxygen deficiency. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (42), 41552–41556.
- Chang, R., Jang, C.J.H., Branco-Price, C., Nghiem, P., Bailey-Serres, J., 2012. Transient MPK6 activation in response to oxygen deprivation and reoxygenation is mediated by mitochondria and aids seedling survival in Arabidopsis. Plant Mol. Biol. 78, 109–122.
- Chen, X., Pierik, R., Peeters, A.J.M., Poorter, H., Visser, E.J., Huber, H., de Kroon, H., Voesenek, L.A.C.J., 2010. Endogenous ABA as a key switch for natural variation in flooding-induced shoot elongation. Plant Physiol. 154, 969–977.
- Christianson, J.A., Wilson, I.W., Llewellyn, D.J., Dennis, E.S., 2009. The low-oxygeninduced NAC domain transcription factor ANAC102 affects viability of Arabidopsis seeds following low-oxygen treatment. Plant Physiol. 149, 1724–1738.

- Christianson, J.A., Llewellyn, D.J., Dennis, E.S., Wilson, I.W., 2010. Global gene expression responses to waterlogging in roots and leaves of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). Plant Cell Physiol. 51, 21–37.
- Colmer, T.D., Voesenek, L.A.C.J., 2009. Flooding tolerance, suites of plant traits in variable environments. Funct. Plant Biol. 36, 665–681.
- Cooper, C.E., 2002. Nitric oxide and cytochrome oxidase, substrate, inhibitor or effector? Trends Biochem. Sci. 27, 33–39.
- Couee, I., Defontaine, S., Carde, J.P., Pradet, A., 1992. Effects of anoxia on mitochondrial biogenesis in rice shoots: modification of in organelle translation characteristics. Plant Physiol. 98, 411–421.
- Davies, D.D., 1980. Anaerobic metabolism and the production of organic acids. In: Stumpf, P.K., Conn, E.E. (Eds.), The Biochemistry of Plants—A Comprehensive Treatise. vol. II. Academic Press, New York, NY, pp. 581–611.
- Davies, D.D., Grego, S., Kenworthy, P., 1974. The control of the production of lactate and ethanol by higher plants. Planta 118 (4), 297–310.
- Deleu, C., Faes, P., Niogret, M.F., Bouchereau, A., 2013. Effects of the inhibitor of the γ -aminobutyrate-transaminase, vinyl- γ -aminobutyrate, on development and nitrogen metabolism in Brassica napus seedlings. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 64, 60–69.
- Demidchik, V., Maathuis, F.J., 2007. Physiological roles of nonselective cation channels in plants, from salt stress to signalling and development. New Phytol. 175 (3), 387–404.
- De Pinto, M.C., Locato, V., De Gara, L., 2012. Redox regulation in plant programmed cell death. Plant Cell Environ. 35, 234–244.
- Dolferus, R., Wolansky, M., Carroll, R.R., Miyashita, R.Y., Ismond, K.K., Good, A., 2008. Functional analysis of lactate dehydrogenase during hypoxic stress in Arabidopsis. Funct. Plant Biol. 35, 131–140.
- Dordas, C., Hasinoff, B.B., Igamberdiev, A.U., Manac'h, N., Rivoal, J., Hill, R.D., 2003. Expression of a stress-induced haemoglobin affects NO levels produced by alfalfa root cultures under hypoxic stress. Plant J. 35, 763–770.
- Dordas, C., Hasinoff, B.B., Rivoal, J., Hill, R.D., 2004. Class I hemoglobins, nitrate and NO levels in hypoxic maize cell suspension cultures. Planta 219, 66–72.
- Drew, M.C., Jackson, M.B., Giffard, S.C., Campbell, R., 1981. Inhibition by silver ions of gas space (aerenchyma) formation in adventitious roots of *Zea mays* L. subjected to exogenous ethylene or to oxygen deficiency. Planta 153, 217–224.
- Ehlert, C., Maurel, C., Tardieu, F., Simonneau, T., 2009. Aquaporin-mediated reduction in maize root hydraulic conductivity impacts cell turgor and leaf elongation even without changing transpiration. Plant Physiol. 150, 1093–1104.
- Ellis, M.H., Dennis, E.S., Peacock, W.J., 1999. Arabidopsis roots and shoots have different mechanisms for hypoxic stress tolerance. Plant Physiol. 119, 57–64.
- Else, M.A., Coupland, D., Dutton, L., Jackson, M.B., 2001. Decreased root hydraulic conductivity reduces leaf water potential, initiates stomatal closure and slows leaf expansion in flooded plants of castor oil (*Ricinus communis*) despite diminished delivery of ABA from the roots to shoots in xylem sap. Physiol. Plant. 111, 46–54.
- Ershova, A., Popova, N., Berdnikova, O., 2011. Production of reactive oxygen species and antioxidant enzymes of pea and soybean plants under hypoxia and high CO₂ concentration in medium. Russ. J. Plant Physiol. 58, 982–990.
- Fukao, T., Bailey-Serres, J., 2008. Submergence tolerance conferred by Sub1A is mediated by SLR1 and SLRL1 restriction of gibberellin responses in rice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (43), 16814–16819.
- Fukao, T., Xiong, L., 2013. Genetic mechanisms conferring adaptation to submergence and drought in rice: simple or complex? Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 16 (2), 196–204. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2013.02.003.

- Fukao, T., Xu, K., Ronald, P.C., Bailey-Serres, J., 2006. A variable cluster of ethylene response factorlike genes regulates metabolic and developmental acclimation responses to submergence in rice. Plant Cell 18, 2021–2034.
- Gibbs, D.J., Lee, S.C., Isa, N.M., Gramuglia, S., Fukao, T., Bassel, G.W., Correia, C.S., Corbineau, F., Theodoulou, F.L., Bailey-Serres, J., Holdsworth, M.J., 2011. Homeostatic response to hypoxia is regulated by the N-end rule pathway in plants. Nature 479 (7373), 415–418.
- Graciet, E., Wellmer, F., 2010. The plant N-end rule pathway, structure and functions. Trends Plant Sci. 15 (8), 447–453.
- Guzy, R.D., Schumacker, P.T., 2006. Oxygen sensing by mitochondria at complex III, the paradox of increased reactive oxygen species during hypoxia. Exp. Physiol. 91, 807–819.
- Han, D., Antunes, F., Canali, R., Rettori, D., Cadenas, E., 2003. Voltage-dependent anion channels control the release of the superoxide anion from mitochondria to cytosol. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (8), 5557–5563.
- Hattori, Y., Nagai, K., Furukawa, S., Song, X.J., Kawano, R., Sakakibara, H., Wu, J., Matsumoto, T., Yoshimura, A., Kitano, H., Matsuoka, M., Mori, H., Ashikari, M., 2009. The ethylene response factors SNORKEL1 and SNORKEL2 allow rice to adapt to deep water. Nature 460, 1026–1030.
- Hinsinger, P., Bengough, A.G., Vetterlein, D., Young, I.M., 2009. Rhizosphere, biophysics, biogeochemistry and ecological relevance. Plant Soil 321 (1–2), 117–152.
- Hinz, M., Wilson, I.W., Yang, J., Buerstenbinder, K., Llewellyn, D., Dennis, E.S., Sauter, M., Dolferus, R., 2010. Arabidopsis RAP2.2, an ethylene response transcription factor that is important for hypoxia survival. Plant Physiol. 153 (2), 757–772.
- Hoeren, F.U., Dolferus, R., Wu, Y., Peacock, W.J., Dennis, E.S., 1998. Evidence for a role for AtMYB2 in the induction of the Arabidopsis alcohol dehydrogenase gene (ADH1) by low oxygen. Genetics 149, 479–490.
- Holman, T.J., Jones, P.D., Russell, L., Medhurst, A., Tomás, S.Ú., Talloji, P., Marquez, J., Schmuths, H., Tung, S., Taylor, I., Footitt, S., Bachmair, A., Theodoulou, F.L., Holdsworth, M.J., 2009. The N-end rule pathway promotes seed germination and establishment through removal of ABA sensitivity in Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 4549–4554.
- Hoyle, N.P., Castelli, L.M., Campbell, S.G., Holmes, L.E., Ashe, M.P., 2007. Stressdependent relocalization of translationally primed mRNPs to cytoplasmic granules that are kinetically and spatially distinct from P-bodies. J. Cell Biol. 179, 65–74.
- Igamberdiev, A.U., Hill, R.D., 2009. Plant mitochondrial function during anaerobiosis. Ann. Bot. 103 (2), 259–268.
- Igamberdiev, A.U., Seregélyes, C., Manac'h, N., Hill, R.D., 2004. NADH dependent metabolism of nitric oxide in alfalfa root cultures expressing barley hemoglobin. Planta 219, 95–102.
- Igamberdiev, A.U., Baron, K., Manac'h-Little, N., Stoimenova, M., Hill, R.D., 2005. The haemoglobin/nitric oxide cycle, involvement in flooding stress and effects on hormone signalling. Ann. Bot. 96, 557–564.
- Ismond, K.P., Dolferus, R., de Pauw, M., Dennis, E.S., Good, A.G., 2003. Enhanced low oxygen survival in Arabidopsis through increased metabolic flux in the fermentative pathway. Plant Physiol. 132, 1292–1302.
- Jackson, M.B., 2008. Ethylene-promoted elongation, an adaptation to submergence stress. Ann. Bot. 101 (2), 229–248.
- Jackson, M.B., Fenning, T.M., Drew, M.C., Saker, L.R., 1985. Stimulation of ethylene production and gas-space (aerenchyma) formation in adventitious roots of *Zea mays* L. by small partial pressures of oxygen. Planta 165, 486–492.
- Jackson, M.B., Saker, L.R., Crisp, C.M., Else, M.A., Janowiak, F., 2003. Ionic and pH signaling from roots to shoots of flooded tomato plants in relation to stomatal closure. Plant Soil 253, 103–113.

- Jacobs, M., Dolferus, R., van Den Bosshe, V.B., 1988. Isolation and biochemical analysis of ethyl methyl sulfonate induced alcohol dehydrogenase null mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. Biochem. Genet. 26, 102–112.
- Jia, W.S., Davies, W.J., 2007. Modification of leaf apoplastic pH in relation to stomatal sensitivity to root-sourced ABA signals. Plant Physiol. 143, 68–77.
- Johnson, J.R., Cobb, B.G., Drew, M.C., 1994. Hypoxic induction of anoxia tolerance in roots of Adh null Zea mays. Plant Physiol. 105, 61–67.
- Jung, K.H., Seo, Y.S., Walia, H., Cao, P., Fukao, T., Canlas, P.E., Amonpant, F., Bailey-Serres, J., Ronald, P.C., 2010. The submergence tolerance regulator Sub1A mediates stress-responsive expression of AP2/ERF transcription factors. Plant Physiol. 152, 1674–1692.
- Kende, H., van der Knaap, E., Cho, H.T., 1998. Deepwater rice, a model plant to study stem elongation. Plant Physiol. 118 (4), 1105–1110.
- Kieffer, M., Neve, J., Kepinski, S., 2009. Defining auxin response contexts in plant development. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 13, 12–20.
- Klok, E.J., Wilson, I.W., Wilson, D., Chapman, S.C., Ewing, R.M., Somerville, S.C., Peacock, W.J., Dolferus, R., Dennis, E.S., 2002. Expression profile analysis of the low-oxygen response in Arabidopsis root cultures. Plant Cell 14 (10), 2481–2494.
- Konings, H., 1982. Ethylene-promoted formation of aerenchyma in seedling roots of *Zea* mays L. under aerated and non-aerated conditions. Physiol. Plant. 54, 119–124.
- Kreuzwieser, J., Hauberg, J., Howell, K.A., Carroll, A., Rennenberg, H., Millar, A.H., Whelan, J., 2009. Differential response of gray poplar leaves and roots underpins stress adaptation during hypoxia. Plant Physiol. 149, 461–473.
- Kumar, B., Pandey, D.M., Goswami, C.L., Jain, S., 2004. Effect of growth regulators on photosynthesis, transpiration and related parameters in water stressed cotton. Biol. Plant. 44, 475–478.
- Kumutha, D., Ezhilmathi, K., Sairam, R.K., Srivastava, G.C., Deshmukh, P.S., Meena, R.-C., 2009. Waterlogging induced oxidative stress and antioxidant activity in pigeon pea genotypes. Biol. Plant. 53, 75–84.
- Kürsteiner, O., Dupuis, I., Kuhlemeier, C., 2003. The pyruvate decarboxylase1 gene of Arabidopsis is required during anoxia but not other environmental stresses. Plant Physiol. 132, 968–978.
- Lasanthi-Kudahettige, R., Magneschi, L., Loreti, E., Gonzali, S., Licausi, F., Novi, G., Beretta, O., Vitulli, F., Alpi, A., Perata, P., 2007. Transcript profiling of the anoxic rice coleoptile. Plant Physiol. 144, 218–231.
- Lee, S.C., Mustroph, A., Sasidharan, R., Vashisht, D., Pedersen, O., Oosumi, T., Voesenek, L.A.C.J., Bailey-Serres, J., 2011. Molecular characterization of the submergence response of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotype Columbia. New Phytol. 190, 457–471.
- Leterrier, M., Valderrama, R., Chaki, M., Airaki, M., Palma, J.M., Barroso, J.B., Corpas, F.J., 2012. Function of nitric oxide under environmental stress conditions. In: Khan, N.A., Nazar, R., Iqbal, N., Anjum, N.A. (Eds.), Phytohormones and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants. Springer, Berlin, pp. 99–113.
- Liao, Y.D., Jeng, J.C., Wang, C.F., Wang, S.C., Chang, S.T., 2004. Removal of N-terminal methionine from recombinant proteins by engineered E. coli methionine aminopeptidase. Protein Sci. 13 (7), 1802–1810.
- Licausi, F., 2011. Regulation of the molecular response to oxygen limitations in plants. New Phytol. 190 (3), 550–555.
- Licausi, F., Perata, P., 2009. Low oxygen signaling and tolerance in plants. Adv. Bot. Res. 50, 139–198.
- Licausi, F., van Dongen, J.T., Giuntoli, B., Novi, G., Santaniello, A., Geigenberger, P., Perata, P., 2010. HRE1 and HRE2, two hypoxia-inducible ethylene response factors, affect anaerobic responses in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J. 62, 302–315.

- Licausi, F., Kosmacz, M., Weits, D.A., Giuntoli, B., Giorgi, F.M., Voesenek, L.A., Perata, P., van Dongen, J.T., 2011. Oxygen sensing in plants is mediated by an N-end rule pathway for protein destabilization. Nature 479 (7373), 419–422.
- Licausi, F., Pucciariello, C., Perata, P., 2013. New role for an old rule: N-end rule-mediated degradation of ethylene responsive factor proteins governs low oxygen response in plants (F). J. Integr. Plant Biol. 55 (1), 31–39.
- Liu, F., VanToai, T., Moy, L.P., Bock, G., Linford, L.D., Quackenbush, J., 2005. Global transcription profiling reveals comprehensive insights into hypoxic response in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 137 (3), 1115–1129.
- Loreti, E., Poggi, A., Novi, G., Alpi, A., Perata, P., 2005. A genome-wide analysis of the effects of sucrose on gene expression in Arabidopsis seedlings under anoxia. Plant Physiol. 137, 1130–1138.
- Mancuso, S., Marras, A.M., 2006. Adaptative response of Vitis root to anoxia. Plant Cell Physiol. 47, 401–409.
- Mancuso, S., Papeschi, G., Marras, A.M., 2000. A polarographic, oxygen-selective, vibrating-microelectrode system for the spatial and temporal characterisation of transmembrane oxygen fluxes in plants. Planta 211, 384–389.
- Masi, E., Ciszak, M., Stefano, G., Renna, L., Azzarello, E., Pandolfi, C., Mugnai, S., Baluška, F., Arecchi, F.T., Mancuso, S., 2009. Spatio-temporal dynamics of the electrical network activity in the root apex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 4048–4053.
- Matsumura, H., Takano, T., Yoshida, K.T., Takeda, G., 1995. A rice mutant lacking alcohol dehydrogenase. Breeding Sci. 45, 365–367.
- Matsumura, H., Takano, T., Takeda, G., Uchimiya, H., 1998. Adh1 is transcriptionally active but its translational product is reduced in a rad mutant of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), which is vulnerable to submergence stress. Theor. Appl. Genet. 97, 1197–1203.
- Mattana, M., Coraggio, I., Bertani, A., Reggiani, R., 1994. Expression of the enzymes of nitrate reduction during the anaerobic germination of rice. Plant Physiol. 106, 1605–1608.
- Mattana, M., Coraggio, I., Brambilla, I., Bertani, A., Reggiani, R., 1996. Nitrate assimilation during the anaerobic germination of rice, expression of ferredoxin-dependent glutamate synthase. Planta 199 (1), 74–78.
- Mattana, M., Ida, S., Reggiani, R., 1997. The root form of ferredoxin-NADP oxidoreductase is expressed in rice coleoptiles for the assimilation of nitrate. Planta 202 (4), 397–401.
- Mazzucotelli, E., Mastrangelo, A.M., Crosatti, C., Guerra, D., Stanca, A.M., Cattivelli, L., 2008. Abiotic stress response in plants, when post-transcriptional and post-translational regulations control transcription. Plant Sci. 174 (4), 420–431.
- Menegus, F., Cattaruzza, L., Mattana, M., Beffagna, N., Ragg, E., 1991. Response to anoxia in rice and wheat seedlings changes in the pH of intracellular compartments, glucose-6phosphate level, and metabolic rate. Plant Physiol. 95 (3), 760–767.
- Miller, G., Mittler, R., 2006. Could heat shock transcription factors function as hydrogen peroxide sensors in plants? Ann. Bot. Lond. 98, 279–288.
- Mithran, M., Paparelli, E., Novi, G., Perata, P., Loreti, E., 2014. Analysis of the role of the pyruvate decarboxylase gene family in Arabidopsis thaliana under low oxygen conditions. Plant Biol. (Stuttg.) 16, 28–34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/plb.12005.
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V.B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., Van Breusegem, F., 2011. ROS signaling, the new wave? Trends Plant Sci. 16 (6), 300–309.
- Miyashita, Y., Good, A.G., 2008. Contribution of the GABA shunt to hypoxia-induced alanine accumulation in roots of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiol. 49 (1), 92–102.
- Miyashita, Y., Dolferus, R., Ismond, K.P., Good, A.G., 2007. Alanine aminotransferase catalyses the breakdown of alanine after hypoxia in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J. 49, 1108–1121.

- Muench, D.G., Good, A.G., 1994. Hypoxically inducible barley alanine aminotransferase, cDNA cloning and expression analysis. Plant Mol. Biol. 24, 417–427.
- Mugnai, S., Marras, A.M., Mancuso, S., 2011. Effect of hypoxic acclimation on anoxia tolerance in Vitis roots: response of metabolic activity and K+ fluxes. Plant Cell Physiol. 52, 1107–1116.
- Mugnai, S., Azzarello, E., Baluška, F., Mancuso, S., 2012. Local root apex hypoxia induces no-mediated hypoxic acclimation of the entire root. Plant Cell Physiol. 53, 912–920.
- Muhlenbock, P., Plaszczyca, M., Mellerowicz, E., Karpinski, S., 2007. Lysigenous aerenchyma formation in Arabidopsis is controlled by Lesion Simulating Disease1. Plant Cell 19, 3819–3830.
- Mustroph, A., Lee, S.C., Oosumi, T., Zanetti, M.E., Yang, H., Ma, K., Yaghoubi-Masihi, A., Fukao, T., Bailey-Serres, J., 2010. Cross-kingdom comparison of transcriptomic adjustments to low-oxygen stress highlights conserved and plant-specific responses. Plant Physiol. 152, 1484–1500.
- Nakamura, T., Yamamoto, R., Hiraga, S., Nakayama, N., Okazaki, K., Takahashi, H., Uchimiya, H., Komatsu, S., 2012. Evaluation of metabolite alteration under flooding stress in soybeans. JARQ 46 (3), 237–248.
- Nakano, T., Suzuki, K., Fujimura, T., Shinshi, H., 2006. Genome-wide analysis of the ERF gene family in Arabidopsis and rice. Plant Physiol. 140, 411–432.
- Nishizawa, A., Yabuta, Y., Yoshida, E., Maruta, T., Yoshimura, K., Shigeoka, S., 2006. *Arabidopsis* heat shock transcription factor A2 as a key regulator in response to several types of environmental stress. Plant J. 48, 535–547.
- Ogawa, T., Pan, L., Kawai-Yamada, M., Yu, L.H., Yamamura, S., Koyama, T., Kitajima, S., Ohme-Takagi, M., Sato, F., Uchimiya, H., 2005. Functional analysis of Arabidopsis ethylene-responsive element binding protein conferring resistance to Bax and abiotic stress-induced plant cell death. Plant Physiol. 138, 1436–1445.
- Ogawa, D., Yamaguchi, K., Nishiuchi, T., 2007. High-level overexpression of the *Ara-bidopsis HsfA2* gene confers not only increased themotolerance but also salt/osmotic stress tolerance and enhanced callus growth. J. Exp. Bot. 58, 3373–3383.
- Panchuk, I.I., Volkov, R.A., Schöffl, F., 2002. Heat stress- and heat shock transcription factor-dependent expression and activity of ascorbate peroxidase in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 129 (2), 838–853.
- Papdi, C., Ábrahám, E., Joseph, M.P., Popescu, C., Koncz, C., Szabados, L., 2008. Functional identification of Arabidopsis stress regulatory genes using the controlled cDNA overexpression system. Plant Physiol. 147 (2), 528–542.
- Parker, R., Sheth, U., 2007. P bodies and the control of mRNA translation and degradation. Mol. Cell 25, 635–646.
- Pauly, N., Pucciariello, C., Mandon, K., Innocenti, G., Jamet, A., Baudouin, E., Herouart, D., Frendo, P., Puppo, A., 2006. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and glutathione, key players in the legume—Rhizobium symbiosis. J. Exp. Bot. 57, 1769–1776.
- Peeters, A.J.M., Cox, M.C.H., Benschop, J.J., Vreeburg, R.A.M., Bou, J., Voesenek, L.A. C.J., 2002. Submergence research using Rumex palustris as a model: looking back and going forward. J. Exp. Bot. 53, 391–398.
- Perata, P., Alpi, A., 1993. Plant responses to anaerobiosis. Plant Sci. 93, 1-17.
- Planchet, E., Kaiser, W.M., 2006. Nitric oxide (NO) detection by DAF fluorescence and chemiluminescence, a comparison using abiotic and biotic NO sources. J. Exp. Bot. 57, 3043–3055.
- Pospíšilová, J., 2003. Participation of phytohormones in the stomatal regulation of gas exchange during water stress. Biol. Plant. 46, 491–506.
- Pucciariello, C., Perata, P., 2012. Flooding tolerance in plants. In: Shabala, S. (Ed.), Plant Stress Physiology. CABI, Cambridge, MA, pp. 148–171.

- Pucciariello, C., Parlanti, S., Banti, V., Novi, G., Perata, P., 2012. Reactive oxygen speciesdriven transcription in Arabidopsis under oxygen deprivation. Plant Physiol. 159 (1), 184–196.
- Reggiani, R., Nebuloni, M., Mattana, M., Brambilla, I., 2000. Anaerobic accumulation of amino acids in rice roots, role of the glutamine synthetase/glutamate synthase cycle. Amino Acids 18 (3), 207–217.
- Renault, H., El Amrani, A., Berger, A., Mouille, G., Soubigou-Taconnat, L., Bouchereau, A., Deleu, C., 2012. γ-Aminobutyric acid transaminase deficiency impairs central carbon metabolism and leads to cell wall defects during salt stress in *Arabidopsis* roots. Plant Cell Environ. 36 (5), 1009–1018.
- Ricoult, C., Cliquet, J.B., Limami, A.M., 2005. Stimulation of alanine amino transferase (AlaAT) gene expression and alanine accumulation in embryo axis of the model legume *Medicago truncatula* contribute to anoxia stress tolerance. Physiol. Plant. 123, 30–39.
- Ridge, I., 1987. Ethylene and growth control in amphibious plants. In: Crawford, R.M.M. (Ed.), Plant Life in Aquatic and Amphibious Habitats. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford, UK, pp. 53–77.
- Sagi, M., Fluhr, R., 2006. Production of reactive oxygen species by plant NADPH oxidases. Plant Physiol. 141 (2), 336–340.
- Sairam, R.K., Kumutha, D., Ezhilmathi, K., Deshmukh, P.S., Srivastava, G.C., 2008. Physiology and biochemistry of waterlogging tolerance in plants. Biol. Plant. 52, 401–412.
- Santosa, I.E., Ram, P.C., Boamfa, E.I., Laarhoven, L.J., Reuss, J., Jackson, M.B., Harren, F.J.M., 2006. Patterns of peroxidative ethane emission from submerged rice seedlings indicate that damage from reactive oxygen species takes place during submergence and is not necessarily a postanoxic phenomenon. Planta 226, 193–202.
- Sasidharan, R., Mustroph, A., 2011. Plant oxygen sensing is mediated by the N-end rule pathway: a milestone in plant anaerobiosis. Plant Cell 23 (12), 4173–4183.
- Sato, T., Harada, T., Ishizawa, K., 2002. Stimulation of glycolysis in anaerobic elongation of pondweed (*Potamogeton distinctus*) turions. J. Exp. Bot. 53 (376), 1847–1856.
- Schramm, F., Ganguli, A., Kiehlmann, E., Englich, G., Walch, D., von Koskull-Döring, P., 2006. The heat stress transcription factor *HsfA2* serves as a regulatory amplifier of a subset of genes in the heat stress response of *Arabidopsis*. Plant Mol. Biol. 60, 759–772.
- Sedbrook, J.C., Kronebush, P.J., Borisy, G.G., Trewavas, A.J., Masson, P., 1996. Transgenic aequorin reveals organ specific cytosolic Ca²⁺ responses to anoxia in *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings. Plant Physiol. 111, 243–257.
- Shelp, B.J., Bown, A.W., McLean, M.D., 1999. Metabolism and functions of gammaaminobutyric acid. Trends Plant Sci. 4 (11), 446–452.
- Snedden, W.A., Arazi, T., Fromm, H., Shelp, B.J., 1995. Calcium/calmodulin activation of soybean glutamate decarboxylase. Plant Physiol. 108 (2), 543–549.
- Snedden, W.A., Koutsia, N., Baum, G., Fromm, H., 1996. Activation of a recombinant petunia glutamate decarboxylase by calcium/calmodulin or by a monoclonal antibody which recognizes the calmodulin binding domain. J. Biol. Chem. 271 (8), 4148–4153.
- Stoimenova, M., Igamberdiev, A.U., Gupta, K.J., Hill, R.D., 2007. Nitrite-driven anaerobic ATP synthesis in barley and rice root mitochondria. Planta 226 (2), 465–474.
- Subbaiah, C.C., Bush, D.S., Sachs, M.M., 2000. Elevation of cytosolic calcium precedes anoxic gene expression in maize suspension-cultured cells. Plant Cell 6, 1747–1762.
- Sukumar, P., Edwards, K.S., Rahman, A., DeLong, A., Muday, G.K., 2009. PINOID kinase regulates root gravitropism through modulation of PIN2-dependent basipetal auxin transport in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 150 (2), 722–735.
- Sun, B.T., Jing, Y., Chen, K.M., Song, L.L., Chen, F.J., Zhang, L.X., 2007. Protective effect of nitric oxide on iron deficiency-induced oxidative stress in maize (*Zea mays*). J. Plant Physiol. 164, 536–543.

- Sweetlove, L.J., Beard, K.F., Nunes-Nesi, A., Fernie, A.R., Ratcliffe, R.G., 2010. Not just a circle, flux modes in the plant TCA cycle. Trends Plant Sci. 15 (8), 462–470.
- Tasaki, T., Sriram, S.M., Park, K.S., Kwon, Y.T., 2012. The N-end rule pathway. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 81, 261–289.
- Tournaire-Roux, C., Sutka, M., Javot, H., Gout, E., Gerbeau, P., Luu, D.T., Bligny, R., Maurel, C., 2003. Cytosolic pH regulates root water transport during anoxic stress through gating of aquaporins. Nature 425 (6956), 393–397.
- Turrens, J.F., 2003. Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J. Physiol. 552 (2), 335–344.
- Tuteja, N., 2009. Integrated calcium signaling in plants. In: Baluška, F., Mancuso, S. (Eds.), Signaling in Plants, Signaling and Communication in Plants. Springer, Berlin/ Heidelberg, pp. 29–49.
- Vandenbroucke, K., Robbens, S., Vandepoele, K., Inzé, D., Van de Peer, Y., Van Breusegem, F., 2008. Hydrogen peroxide-induced gene expression across kingdoms: a comparative analysis. Mol. Biol. Evol. 25 (3), 507–516.
- van Dongen, J.T., Frohlich, A., Ramirez-Aguilar, S.J., Schauer, N., Fernie, A.R., Erban, A., Kopka, J., Clark, J., Langer, A., Geigenberger, P., 2008. Transcript and metabolite profiling of the adaptive response to mild decreases in oxygen concentration in the roots of Arabidopsis plants. Ann. Bot. Lond. 103, 269–280.
- van Dongen, J.T., Frohlich, A., Ramirez-Aguilar, S.J., Schauer, N., Fernie, A.R., Erban, A., Kopka, J., Clark, J., Langer, A., Geigenberger, P., 2009. Transcript and metabolite profiling of the adaptive response to mild decreases in oxygen concentration in the roots of Arabidopsis plants. Ann. Bot. 103, 269–280.
- Varshavsky, A., 1997. The ubiquitin system. Trends Biochem. Sci. 22 (10), 383-387.
- Verbelen, J., Cnodder, T., Le, J., Vissenberg, K., Baluška, F., 2006. Root apex of Arabidopsis thaliana consists of four distinct zones of growth activities, meristematic zone, transition zone, fast elongation zone, and growth terminating zone. Plant Signal. Behav. 1, 296–304.
- Vidoz, M.L., Loreti, E., Mensuali, A., Alpi, A., Perata, P., 2010. Hormonal interplay during adventitious root formation in flooded tomato plants. Plant J. 63 (4), 551–562.
- Vlad, F., Spano, T., Vlad, D., Bou Daher, F., Ouelhadj, A., Kalaitzis, P., 2007. Arabidopsis prolyl 4-ydroxylases are differentially expressed in response to hypoxia, anoxia and mechanical wounding. Physiol. Plant. 130 (4), 471–483.
- Voesenek, L.A.C.J., Blom, C.W.P.M., 1989. Growth responses of Rumex species in relation to submergence and ethylene. Plant Cell Environ. 12, 433–439.
- Voesenek, L.A.C.J., Sasidharan, R., 2013. Ethylene—and oxygen signalling—drive plant survival during flooding. Plant Biol. (Stuttg.) 15 (3), 426–435.
- Wang, Y.S., Yang, Z.M., 2005. Nitric oxide reduces aluminum toxicity by preventing oxidative stress in the roots of Cassiatora L. Plant Cell Physiol. 46, 1915–1923.
- Welsch, R., Maass, D., Voegel, T., DellaPenna, D., Beyer, P., 2007. Transcription factor RAP2.2 and its interacting partner SINAT2, stable elements in the carotenogenesis of Arabidopsis leaves. Plant Physiol. 145 (3), 1073–1085.
- Wong, H.L., Pinontoan, R., Hayashi, K., Tabata, R., Yaeno, T., Hasegawa, K., Kojima, C., Yoshioka, H., Iba, K., Kawasaki, T., Shimamoto, K., 2007. Regulation of rice NADPH oxidase by binding of Rac GTPase to its N-terminal extension. Plant Cell 19 (12), 4022–4034.
- Xu, K., Xu, X., Fukao, T., Canlas, P., Maghirang-Rodriguez, R., Heuer, S., Ismail, A.M., Bailey-Serres, J., Ronald, P.C., Mackill, D.J., 2006. Sub1A is an ethylene-responsefactor-like gene that confers submergence tolerance to rice. Nature 442, 705–708.
- Xu, Z.S., Xia, L.Q., Chen, M., Cheng, X.G., Zhang, R.Y., Li, L.C., Zhao, Y.X., Lu, Y., Ni, Z.Y., Liu, L., Qiu, Z.G., Ma, Y.Z., 2007. Isolation and molecular characterization of

the *Triticum aestivum* L. ethylene-responsive factor 1 (TaERF1) that increases multiple stress tolerance. Plant Mol. Biol. 65, 719–732.

- Yemelyanov, V.V., Shishova, M.F., 2012. The role of phytohormones in the control of plant adaptation to oxygen depletion. In: Khan, N.A., Nazar, R., Iqbal, N., Anjum, N.A. (Eds.), Phytohormones and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants. Springer, Berlin/ Heidelberg, pp. 229–248.
- Yoshida, S., Ito, M., Callis, J., Nishida, I., Watanabe, A., 2002. A delayed leaf senescence mutant is defective in arginyl-tRNA, protein arginyltransferase, a component of the N-end rule pathway in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 32 (1), 129–137.
- Zhang, Z., Wei, L., Zou, X., Tao, Y., Liu, Z., Zheng, Y., 2008. Submergence-responsive microRNAs are potentially involved in the regulation of morphological and metabolic adaptations in maize root cells. Ann. Bot. 102, 509–519.